Communities Scrutiny Review Board 5 July 2021

Present: Councillor Dhindsa (Chair)

Councillors Atwal, Sandhu, Pandey, Jennings and Prosser

In Attendance: Charles Edwards – Head of Community Safety and Integration

Samantha Dennis - Director of Public Protection and Streetpride

01/21 Apologies for Absence

Apologies were received for Cllr Eyre.

02/21 Late items introduced by the Chair

There were none.

03/21 Declarations of Interest

There were none.

04/21 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2021

It was agreed that this item would be deferred until the next Communities Scrutiny Review Board meeting on 13 September 2021.

05/21 Grounds maintenance update

The Board received an update from the Head of Community Safety and Integration on the Grounds Maintenance Team.

It was reported that previously the Grounds Team didn't recruit in case cuts came and were reluctant to spend their budget in case it was needed. It was noted that the Team were also hesitant about making decisions in case in 6 months' time they didn't work. It was reported that the culture in the Grounds Team had now shifted and that members of the Team were now taking part in a Bespoke APSE Training Course.

The Board noted that job descriptions for roles within the team had been revised and now went deeper into the skills expected of an all-round Council worker. It was also noted that frontline operatives were now taking part in monthly forecasting meetings with management.

It was reported that outputs were important for the Grounds Team as they helped the team to manage its resources, understand demand and finical requirements from a customer perspective. It was noted that the team now benefited from looking long-term and focusing on outcomes.

It was noted that a transformation matrix was now being used to assess colleagues in two areas: performance and trust. It was noted that low performance, high trust colleagues could be coached and were on development plans. It was also noted that high performance, low trust colleagues would be mentored and would be paired up with their peers, not a leader, to work side by side with.

It was reported that management had sent a letter to every employee in the Grounds Team with a list of training, not just technical, but core skills, maths, English, reading writing. It was noted that the Team's partnership with DALS had enabled this.

A councillor questioned how long it would be before colleagues in the Grounds Maintenance Team had completed all of their training. It was noted that all colleagues who wanted to complete an apprenticeship would be enrolled on one by the end of the year and that all training would be completed within three years.

A councillor commented that in some areas of the city bins were regularly overflowing. It was reported that a service improvement officer was reviewing the capacity and location of bins in Derby. A councillor questioned whether the Council were working with food outlets to reduce the amount of litter in Derby. It was noted that Keep Britain Tidy worked with most food outlets and encouraged them to help reduce litter. It was also noted that the Council engaged with food outlets in the city on this issue.

A councillor commented that there had been an increase in illegal BBQs in the city. The Head of Community Safety and Integration asked councillors to report any illegal BBQs and that they would be looked into.

The Chair asked what percentage of the Ground Maintenance Team were apprentices. It was reported that 12% of the current workforce were completing apprenticeships and that the Team were looking to hire 4 Trainee Apprentices in the next year. It was noted that the Council had already hired and trained Apprentice Arborists.

The Board Resolved:

- 1. To receive an update at a future Board meeting on the location and capacity of bins in Derby.
- 2. To receive an update at a future Board meeting on how the Council is working with food outlets to minimise littering.

3. To receive an update at a future Board meeting on apprenticeships within the Grounds Maintenance Team.

06/21 Financing of the Public Protection Officers Team

The Board received a report from the Strategic Director for Communities and Place on the Financing of the Public Protection Officers Team. This report was presented by the Director of Public Protection and Streetpride.

It was reported that a decision had been taken at Council Cabinet on 13 March 2019 to approve a 'new model for Neighbourhood working'; this saw an increase in the number of PPOs from 9 to 20 to provide ward based priority services across all 17 wards of the city. The Board noted that the PPO team was designed to deal with anti-social behaviour, nuisance parking and environmental crime along with other enforcement and community related demands.

It was reported that the PPO Team used the three E's approach (Engage, Educate, Enforce) which was considered good practice by Keep Britain Tidy, who delivered the 'Enforcement Academy' for Local Authorities. It was noted that in March 2020 the Coronavirus Pandemic (Covid) significantly impacted the Council's ability to deliver services as resources were focussed on reducing the spread and managing the impact of the pandemic. It was reported that the PPO Team refocussed their priorities to provide vital support to the Covid effort by taking a lead role in localised contact tracing. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that they also provided support to the most vulnerable in the city with safe and well checks, along with other ad hoc duties.

It was reported that Covid had highlighted good practice and enhanced collaboration between teams, partners, and community groups. It was noted that this had led to Police, Environmental Health, Trading Standards, Community Safety and Public Protection meeting up three times per week for joint tasking. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that at these meetings, demands were reviewed, and resources allocated according to role and skill set. The Board noted that this collaborative approach had ensured that Covid restrictions were effectively managed, and businesses were supported in the city throughout lockdown and the recovery roadmap.

It was noted that the team had continued to support the wider community safety agenda throughout the pandemic and had continued to deliver patrols through the city, supporting complex issues such as neighbour disputes and working to the three Es of enforcement for environmental demands. It was reported that shift patterns within the service had recently changed to accommodate evening and weekend demands and that this had enabled officers to proactively patrol and react to demands on parks and open spaces on evenings and weekends until 10pm.

It was noted that during the pandemic, officers had been required to adapt their role to support residents and reduce the risk of spreading the virus. It was reported that the PPOs continued to provide key front-line services throughout the pandemic and had completed 1,445 Covid related actions for residents and businesses which was included in the total 8469 service requested completed throughout the performance year.

The Board noted that in addition to these actions, the team also supported the wider Council enforcement team by providing back fill for 101 essential cases to enable Environmental Health Officers to act on Covid cases. It was reported that the team completed 8469 service requests with 112 resulting in enforcement action (Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) or Parking Charge Notice (PCN)) which equated to 19.3% of serviced requests. The Board noted that this demonstrated that around 80% of the time officers were providing support, advice, and guidance to residents in line with the agreed three E approach.

The Board noted that the Council had a statutory duty to complete quarterly returns to the Environment Agency on the amount of fly tipped waste collected and the system allocated an indicative cost to the amount. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that from April 2020 to March 2021 the Council collected over seven thousand fly tips with costs attributed to this being £334.9k as indicated by Waste Data Flow. It was reported that in order to enable social distancing at the Raynesway HWRC site, opening times were reduced, bays were restricted to one resident per bay and a booking system was implemented which received positive feedback from residents and local businesses. It was noted that a saving of £575k realised from the changes was included in the Council's MTFP to support the balancing of the Council's finances during significantly increasing demands across all Council Service through the pandemic.

The Board noted that Public Protection Officers provided a visible enforcement presence in the city and had powers to enforce against antisocial behaviour, environmental crime, and breaches of Public Spaces Protection Orders. It was noted that legislation that PPOs enforced against included: The Environmental Protection Act 1990, Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Public Spaces Protection Orders and The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020.

The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that Public Protection Officers had the power to enforce against waste crime offences, including littering, waste on land and fly tipping along with other offences including graffiti and dog fouling. It was noted that waste and recycling were key factors in the Council's ability to support the climate change agenda.

The Board noted that Public Protection Officers played a key role in providing a visible uniformed presence in the city. It was reported that working with Police partners and BID rangers, PPOs provided support to

businesses by providing a visible deterrent for crime and disorder in the city centre. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that Derby's parks and open spaces had provided an area for external exercise and socially distanced interaction for residents through the pandemic. It was noted that patrolling these spaces provided residents with assurance that crime and antisocial behaviour was being actively managed, which helped to maintain feelings of safety in the city.

The Board noted that development of the Council's Better together approach was underway, which identified the most effective way of locality working. It was reported that by 'working with' communities rather than 'doing to' the Council would gain valuable insight into what mattered to communities which in turn enabled better service provision and community empowerment. It was reported that whilst the PPO team were not working on the development of the service, delivering services in the localities gave PPOs important local knowledge and connections. It was noted that PPOs would work with colleagues across all services areas as the approach developed.

The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that the Council operated a chargeable bulky waste collection service with two crews operating 4 days per week. It was noted that throughout Covid restrictions, capacity was increased with another round to take increased demand. The Board noted that the total number of bulky waste service requests from April 20 to March 21 was 7513, which generated £171k income.

The Board noted that the latest fly-tipping data available through the Environment Agency Waste Data Flow demonstrated a national trend of an increase in fly-tipping. It was reported that the data showed that there had been a significant impact in the East Midlands and that Derby was no exception to this. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that Waste data Flow attributed a cost value to the management of fly tipping using a weighted measure. It was reported that for Derby City the cost of fly tipping management was valued at £334.9k from April 20 to March 21.

The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that fly tipping was dealt with by three Streetpride crews in the city, who proactively cleared waste, reacted to resident service requests and referred to enforcement colleagues where evidence was present to support a prosecution. The Board noted that colleagues from Derby Homes' Estate Response Team included the management of fly tipping within their duties in the city's social housing areas. It was reported that this was funded by the Housing Revenue Account and worked collaboratively with PPOs, Streetpride, Neighbourhoods and Housing Officers to resolve problems.

The Board noted that digital technology initially rolled out in Waste Collection services was being expanded through Streetpride services. It

was noted that this enabled crews to identify fly tipping and other street cleansing demands and also enabled Team Leaders to schedule work and produce real time, geographical reports on cleansing demands. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that work was underway to link the PPO Team to this system to feed this information to patrol plans.

It was reported that Keep Britain Tidy had completed several experiments using behavioural insight techniques. It was noted that their studies had found that most fly tipping took place in places frequently visited by the perpetrators and that a Council's speed of response could add to the reinforced behaviour by giving the perception of acceptance. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that studies had shown that leaving fly tipping in situ with some method of identifying it as a waste crime highlighted the issues and triggered an emotional response from the perpetrator. It was noted that in as many of 70% of these cases where the waste was highlighted and left for up to 5 days, perpetrators collected their own waste back and disposed of it correctly. It was reported that Streetpride services were currently using some of these methods and would continue to review effectiveness.

The Board noted that the Council's Public Protection Team were developed to deal with antisocial behavior and environmental crime. It was reported that they worked closely with their colleagues in Neighbourhoods Teams and Streetpride to solve public realm issues; and that they worked collaboratively with enforcement colleagues and Police partners on joint tasking and low-level crime and antisocial behavior. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that the net cost of the Public Protection Officer Team was £333k. It was noted that Streetpride services managed waste collection and disposal along with street cleansing and other maintenance operations. It was reported that two crews provided bulky waste collection services and three crews provided fly tipping clearance. It was noted that where evidence was present in fly tipping, referrals were made for enforcement investigations.

The Board noted that the cost of a waste collection crew and vehicle was around £150k and income generated for bulky waste collections off sets this amount. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that the full costs estimated by the Environment Agency on the cost of collection, processing and disposal for the Derby City Council was £334.9k based on 5728 fly tips in the last performance year. It was reported that the Council provided disposal facilities at Raynesway Household Waste Recycling Centre. It was noted that in the height of the pandemic, changes were made to enable social distancing and reduce contact.

The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that the changes included using digital technology to book disposal slots and a reduction in opening hours. The Board noted that savings realised from this approach totalled £575k and were included in the Council's MTFP. It

was reported that the bulky waste collection service had been doubled through periods of increased demand during the pandemic. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that innovative solutions were being explored nationally to address fly tipping and the Council was exploring methods including behavioural insight techniques.

A councillor questioned whether the Council's Bulky Waste Service was subsidised and was informed that this service was subsidised, and that only one crew was funded by the costs charged for this service.

A councillor asked whether the Council were working to motorists littering out of car windows. The Board noted that the Streetpride Team were looking into how artificial intelligence could be used to help prosecute motorists who litter. It was reported that changes to legislation now allowed drivers to be prosecuted when passengers in their vehicle threw litter out of windows. It was agreed that an update on this would be brought to a future meeting.

A councillor questioned whether the Council were working with schools to educate young people about littering. It was reported that this formed part of the Council's Waste Strategy and the Director of Public Protection and Streetpride agreed to bring this strategy to a future meeting.

A councillor asked whether there were any vacancies in the Council's PPO Team and was informed that there were four vacancies. Councillors questioned how long it took to train new PPOs and were informed that it took approximately six weeks. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride agreed to update the Board once the four vacancies had been filled.

The Chair questioned whether the PPO Team were on track to hit their income generation target. The Board noted that so far, the PPO Team had collected around £2k and that this was expected to increase once the Public Protection Business Support Officer vacancy had been filled. It was reported that the PPO Team looked to educate individuals rather than issuing fines as a first response. It was noted that the Council's focus was on prosecuting individuals who were payed to fly tip. It was noted that the income generation target would be reviewed if it became apparent that the current target would not be hit. It was agreed that the Board would receive a future update on how the Council were working to change behaviours around fly tipping.

Councillors suggested that fly tipping in Derby may have increased as a result of the Raynesway HWRC site having reduced opening hours and a booking system. The Board agreed to recommend that Cabinet consider increasing the opening hours of the Raynesway HWRC site and removing the booking system.

The Chair asked whether any information was available from other Local Authorities on how they were successfully tackling fly tipping. The Director

of Public Protection and Streetpride agreed to provide the Board with reports on this from the APSI Network.

The Chair suggested that discussions on the Council's Better Together Approach should include how PPOs fit into this approach. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride informed the Board that although they weren't involved at this stage of discussions, they would feature in later discussions on the Better Together Approach. The Board agreed to recommend that discussions on the Council's Better Together Approach should include how PPOs fit into this approach.

The Chair commented that in some areas of the city there were problems with residents leaving rubbish on streets instead of using bins correctly. It was noted that officers were working with landlords to improve where bins are located for tenants. It was also noted that Waste Minimalisation Officers were assisting residents with disposing of rubbish correctly. It was reported that where it was deemed necessary, the Council would prosecute individuals for leaving rubbish on streets. The Director of Public Protection and Streetpride agreed to provide an update on this at a future meeting.

The Board Resolved:

- to note the contents of the report, which included an update on PPO Team performance and funding, along with some updates requested by the Board at previous Communities Scrutiny Board meetings.
- 2. to recommend that Cabinet consider increasing the opening hours of the Raynesway HWRC site and removing the booking system.
- 3. to recommend that discussions on the Council's Better Together Approach should include how PPOs fit into this approach.

07/21 Work Programme 2021/22

The Board considered a report setting out the Terms of Reference and Remit of the Board.

The report provided Members of the Board with the opportunity to consider its terms of reference and remit for the forthcoming municipal year, its work programme for 2021/22 and any topic reviews.

Resolved to note the information provided within the report.

Minutes End.